STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from York County  
Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

 ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 08 2017

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN KENNETH MASSEY, JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2015-002563

\_\_\_\_\_  
FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT  
\_\_\_\_\_

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge err in permitting Appellant to proceed *pro se* where the judge failed to ensure Appellant understood the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation and the record does not disclose that Appellant had sufficient background to intelligently waive his right to counsel or was apprised of his rights by some other source?
  
- II. Did the trial judge err in permitting expert testimony concerning dog-tracking where the state failed to prove the dog's reliability in accordance with State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009)?
  
- III. Did the trial judge err in failing to credit Appellant with time served in pre-trial detention awaiting disposition of the charges in direct contravention of the mandatory statutory provision and controlling case law?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 17, 2013, a York County grand jury indicted Appellant for grand larceny of items valued at or more than two thousand dollars (2013-GS-46-3508) and malicious injury to property with the damage being less than two thousand dollars (2013-GS-46-3509). R. 460-461; R. 463-464. Both indictments were subject to the property crime enhancement. R. 460-461; R. 463-464. The state, represented by Matthew Hogge and Austin Newman, called the case to trial before the Honorable Paul Burch and a jury on November 30, 2015. R. 10. Initially, Phil Smith represented Appellant. R. 10. However, during the pre-trial proceedings, Appellant moved to relieve Smith and proceed *pro se*. R. 77, ll. 1-8. Judge Burch granted the request. R. 78, l. 17 – R. 79, l. 1. Thereafter, Appellant represented himself. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 354, ll. 11-19. Judge Burch sentenced Appellant to ten years' imprisonment for grand larceny and two years' imprisonment for malicious injury to property. R. 369, ll. 11-18; R. 462; R. 465. He ordered the sentences to be served consecutively. R. 369, l. 18; R. 462; R. 465.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 17, 2013, Bobby Ferrell, a civil process server for the York County Sheriff's Office, was driving from his home in Chester County to the Moss Justice Center in York County. R. 13, ll. 10-24.<sup>1</sup> At 5:19 a.m., when Ferrell was just inside the York County line, he saw Appellant walking down the middle of the road. R. 14, ll. 4-11. Approximately twenty yards away, Ferrell saw a four-wheeler in a ditch. R.14, ll. 14-19. Ferrell stopped his car and detained Appellant for questioning. R. 15, ll. 7-12. Appellant told Ferrell that he and his girlfriend argued, prompting him to leave and walk home to Rock Hill. R. 15, ll. 12-16. While walking, Appellant had been calling a friend for a ride. R. 15, ll.15-16; R. 243, l. 1 – R. 245, l. 3. When Ferrell asked Appellant about the four-wheeler in the ditch, Appellant indicated he was unaware of the four-wheeler. R. 15, ll. 17-23. It was a dark country road with no street lighting, forcing Ferrell to shine his flashlight on it so the two could see it. R. 15, ll. 22-23; see also, R. 115, ll. 2-6 (another officer describing the area as not heavily populated and noting there were more cows than people there).<sup>2</sup>

Ferrell called dispatch to explain what was happening, and Deputy Travis Shealey told Ferrell to keep Appellant at the roadside until Shealey arrived. R. 16, ll. 15-17; R. 16, l. 21 – R. 17, l. 6. It was no surprise then that Ferrell refused to return Appellant's identification when Appellant's friend showed up to give him a ride. R. 16, ll. 2-14; see also R. 113, ll. 4-12; R. 135,

---

<sup>1</sup> Bobby Ferrell did not testify before the jury; however, he testified during an *in camera* hearing regarding his involvement. The chief investigating officer, Nick Schifferle, told the jurors that the police received a call from "an anonymous citizen" about a four-wheeler on the side of the road. R. 237, ll. 1-14.

<sup>2</sup> The officers investigating the alleged theft noticed there was no key in the four-wheeler and it was in gear. R. 121, ll. 17-23. There was also a piece of a garden hose tied to the front of the four-wheeler. R. 121, ll. 8-11.

ll. 16-20. When Appellant asked to leave, Ferrell told him he would have to wait and talk to the deputies who were on their way. R. 16, ll. 2-14.

Although Shealey should have been ending his shift, he went to meet Ferrell and Appellant on the roadside at 5:30 a.m. R. 108, l. 20 – R. 109, l. 10; R. 113, ll. 18-20. To Shealey's questioning, Appellant explained the argument with his girlfriend and his walking home as a result. R. 123, ll. 1-4; see also, R. 240, ll. 7-18. Shealey handcuffed Appellant and waited for other officers to arrive. R. 123, ll. 7-8. Shealey explained that Appellant had been stopped near the home of Benjamin "Benji" Fairfax, Shealey's good friend. R. 117, l. 21 – R. 118, l. 1. Although Ferrell indicated that he stopped Appellant when he was approximately *twenty* yards from the four-wheeler, Shealey claimed Appellant was within *three or four* yards, or between nine and twelve feet, of the four-wheeler when Shealey arrived. R. 136, ll. 18-24.

According to Fairfax, when he went to bed on the night of July 16, 2013, at 11:30 p.m., his four-wheeler was under a shed off the side of his utility building, approximately 200 feet from the roadway. R. 173, l. 8 – R. 174, l. 9. When Fairfax awoke the next morning, he noticed the four-wheeler was gone. R. 173, ll. 12-24. Fairfax walked out his front door to investigate, but was met by an officer who explained the police were investigating the theft of his four-wheeler and had a suspect in custody. R. 173, ll. 18-21; R. 175, ll. 2-17. The officer said there was a canine responding to run a trail from the four-wheeler to Fairfax's shed. R. 175, ll. 13-17.

On the roadside and later at the detention center, Appellant repeatedly informed officers that he could not have stolen the four-wheeler and pushed it across the yard because he had recently undergone surgery to remove a cancerous tumor from his buttocks. R. 144, ll. 3-7; R. 240, ll. 7-11. In fact, the tumor was about the size of a fist and its removal left Appellant

temporarily disabled – unable to exert himself physically and unable to lift anything over ten pounds. R. 279, ll. 4-23; Defendant's #3.

Prior to the canine team's arrival, approximately eight other officers arrived on the scene. R. 148, ll. 12-24. The police records showed eleven police cars responded. R. 148, ll. 19-24. Nevertheless, Shealey claimed none of the officers entered the area; instead, they were "[s]tanding around." R. 152, ll. 13-24.

Officer Tim Carroll arrived on the scene with his canine, Hattie, at 6:19 a.m. R. 196, ll. 10-20. The police wanted to know if a track would go from Appellant to the four-wheeler and back to where the four-wheeler was taken. R. 193, ll. 23-25. To accomplish this goal, Carroll had Hattie sniff Appellant's pant leg. R. 193, l. 25 – R. 194, l. 1. At that time, Appellant was less than fifty yards away from the four-wheeler, a distance greater than testified to by Ferrell and Shealey concerning Appellant's location in relation to the four-wheeler when the two officers arrived. R. 197, ll. 13-19. Carroll then allowed Hattie to start searching along the roadway. R. 194, ll. 2-3. Carroll claimed she picked up a track going down the side of the road, not the middle, toward the four-wheeler. R. 194, ll. 2-4. When she got to the four-wheeler, she nosed it, then turned up to the yard and went up the embankment. R. 194, ll. 4-6. She crossed the yard and went to a storage shed. R. 194, ll. 6-7. At this point, Hattie began to circle around, indicating to Carroll that the track had ended. R. 194, ll. 7-10. Prior to starting the search, it was Carroll's understanding that the four-wheeler had been taken from that particular storage shed. R. 194, ll. 7-8. Carroll and Hattie started "cutting" the area, trying to pick up an exit, but could not find a track going anywhere else. R. 194, ll. 10-13.

Carroll explained that when Hattie is "on a track," she barks. R. 198, ll. 16-18. Further, Carroll explained that because Hattie was doing a "reverse track," she did not identify Appellant.

R. 199, ll. 14-15. Carroll admitted that although dogs follow human odor, dogs prefer tracking from cold to hot, meaning dogs prefer to track from where someone *was* to where the person *is* currently or was most recently. R. 204, ll. 17-24. Carroll opined, however, that dogs can reverse track for up to one mile. R. 204, l. 24 – R. 205, l. 13. Hattie had never performed such a feat, however. R. 205, ll. 16-19. In fact, Hattie had never performed a reverse track in a training exercise until *after* July 17, 2013. R. 206, l. 9 – R. 207, l. 9.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge erred in permitting Appellant to proceed *pro se* where the judge failed to ensure Appellant understood the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation and the record does not disclose that Appellant had sufficient background to intelligently waive his right to counsel or was apprised of his rights by some other source.

### **Relevant facts**

During a pretrial hearing to determine the admissibility of dog-tracking evidence, Appellant moved to relieve trial counsel and proceed *pro se*. After the state completed re-direct examination of its witness on the subject, trial counsel indicated he had no more questions but stated that Appellant wished to cross-examine the officer. R. 76, ll. 1-5. The judge responded that Appellant could not do that “unless he wants to take over his defense and you’re out of here.” R. 76, ll. 6-7. After a brief break, the judge explained that he did not mean “to be curt about that.” R. 76, ll. 12-13. However, he viewed the situation as “clear-cut.” R. 76, l. 13. The judge stated that Appellant could not ask questions as long as trial counsel was representing him. R. 76, ll. 15-16. By the use of the phrase “you’re out of here,” the judge meant, Appellant would have to release trial counsel from representation and “take over the actual defense.” R. 76, ll. 16-18. The judge then permitted a recess for trial counsel and Appellant to consult. R. 76, ll. 22-24.

After the short recess, trial counsel stated he had met with Appellant who “indicated after contemplation a decision that he would feel more comfortable with representing himself in this trial.” R. 77, ll. 1-4. Additionally, trial counsel noted that Appellant had asked that trial counsel “assist him, hand him items and serve as sort of an assistant to him,” but that Appellant understood “he would be representing himself at this point.” R. 77, ll. 4-6. The judge stated that he and Appellant needed “to talk about this a little bit.” R. 77, ll. 9-10. According to the judge, he could

provide Appellant with “standby counsel,” which would permit Appellant to ask questions. However, the judge warned that “once you pull the trigger on that, if I agree with it, then he won’t be able to go forward with any other question and you’d be on your own, and sometimes representing yourself can be a dangerous proposition.” R. 77, ll. 10-15.

He asked how familiar Appellant was with the court system, and Appellant responded, “Fairly, fairly.” R. 77, ll. 15-17. Appellant indicated he had finished fourteen or fifteen years of school, including two years at Winthrop University and a semester at a technical school. R. 77, ll. 20-22. The judge then remarked, “And you know the old saying without me quoting it.” R. 77, ll. 23-24. Appellant responded, “Representing himself’s a fool.” R. 77, l. 25.

After this exchange, the judge asked if Appellant were “sure that [he] want[ed] to make this move.” R. 78, ll. 1-3. Appellant responded he was sure, but explained he would need trial counsel’s assistance because the two had *not* gone over “some of the stuff” due to time constraints. R. 78, ll. 4-6. He explained he would need trial counsel to help him go through some of the information and would need trial counsel to assist him with some information. R. 78, ll. 6-8; R. 78, ll. 12-16. The judge said he had “no problem with that” and remarked that trial counsel would be “strictly” limited in that role. R. 78, ll. 17-20.

Thereafter, the judge noted that Appellant seemed to be very intelligent with years of education, and as a result, he was releasing trial counsel. R. 78, l. 22 – R. 79, l. 1. Appellant then represented himself in the remainder of the pre-trial hearing and the trial.

## **Discussion**

A criminal defendant “has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions.” State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) (citing State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 698 S.E.2d 604 (2010)). “The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely

that a defense shall be made for the accused; it grants to the accused personally the right to make his defense.” Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 819 (1975). “When an accused manages his own defense, he relinquishes, as a purely factual matter, many of the traditional benefits associated with the right to counsel.” Id. at 835. Thus, the decision to proceed *pro se* must be made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. Id. In fact, “[t]he courts indulge every reasonable presumption against waiver of fundamental constitutional rights, and do not presume acquiescence in the loss of fundamental rights.” State v. Thompson, 355 S.C. 255, 262, 584 S.E.2d 131, 134 (Ct. App. 2003).

“Under Faretta, the trial judge has the responsibility to make sure that the defendant is informed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, and that he makes a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to counsel.” Barnes, 407 S.C. at 36, 753 S.E.2d at 550; see also State v. Dixon, 269 S.C. 107, 236 S.E.2d 419 (1977) (explaining “it is the responsibility of the trial judge to determine whether there is or is not an intelligent and competent waiver”). “Faretta requires that a defendant ‘be made aware of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation so that the record will establish he knows what he is doing and his choice is made with eyes open.’” Wroten v. State, 301 S.C. 293, 294, 391 S.E.2d 575, 576 (1990) (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 835). “To establish a valid waiver of counsel, Faretta requires the accused be: (1) advised of his right to counsel; and (2) adequately warned of the dangers of self-representation.” Prince v. State, 301 S.C. 422, 423-424, 392 S.E.2d 462, 463 (1990).

According to the South Carolina Supreme Court, “a specific inquiry by the trial judge expressly addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense is preferred.” Id.<sup>3</sup> However, “[t]he ultimate test of whether a defendant has made a knowing and intelligent waiver of the right to

---

<sup>3</sup> The trial judge must “make a meaningful inquiring into [a defendant’s] background to determine whether [the defendant] had sufficient experience or knowledge to waive counsel.” Watts v. State, 347 S.C. 399, 403, 556 S.E.2d 368, 371 (2001).

counsel is the defendant's understanding." State v. Reed, 332 S.C. 35, 41, 503 S.E.2d 747, 750 (1998). Therefore, "[i]n the absence of a specific inquiry by the trial judge addressing the disadvantages of a *pro se* defense as required by the second Faretta prong, [the reviewing court] will look to the record to determine whether [the defendant] had sufficient background or was apprised of his rights by some other source." Prince, 301 S.C. at 424, 392 S.E.2d at 463. In other words, "[i]f the record demonstrates the defendant's decision to represent himself was made with an understanding of the risks of self-representation, the requirements of a voluntary waiver will be satisfied." Wroten, 301 S.C. at 294, 391 S.E.2d at 576.

According to this Court, a variety of factors may be considered by a reviewing court when determining if an accused has sufficient background to comprehend the dangers of self-representation, including:

- (1) the accused's age, educational background, and physical and mental health;
- (2) whether the accused was previously involved in criminal trials;
- (3) whether the accused knew the nature of the charge(s) and of the possible penalties;
- (4) whether the accused was represented by counsel before trial and whether that attorney explained to him the dangers of self-representation;
- (5) whether the accused was attempting to delay or manipulate the proceedings;
- (6) whether the court appointed stand-by counsel;
- (7) whether the accused knew he would be required to comply with the rules of procedure at trial;
- (8) whether the accused knew the legal challenges he could raise in defense to the charge(s) against him;
- (9) whether the exchange between the accused and the court consisted merely of *pro forma* answers to *pro forma* questions; and
- (10) whether the accused's waiver resulted from either coercion or mistreatment.

In re Christopher H., 359 S.C. 161, 167-168, 596 S.E.2d 500, 504 (Ct. App. 2004).

The Supreme Court held the record did not demonstrate Wroten was sufficiently aware of the dangers of self-representation to make an informed decision to proceed without counsel. Wroten, 301 S.C. at 294-295, 391 S.E.2d at 576-577. Notably, the trial judge made no specific inquiry to determine whether Wroten made his choice to represent himself voluntarily and knowing. Id. at 294, 391 S.E.2d at 576. Wroten was forty-five years old at the time of his guilty plea and had

only a fifth-grade education. Id. at 295, 391 S.E.2d at 576. Wroten had spoken to a public defender only once. Id. at 295, 391 S.E.2d at 576-577. When the plea judge asked if he wanted an attorney, Wroten responded that he did not know what to do. Id. at 295, 391 S.E.2d at 577. Wroten had one prior conviction on his record – a guilty plea in 1979. Id. Not only did the trial judge fail to provide proper Faretta warnings, the record failed to disclose that Wroten had sufficient background to make a voluntary waiver or that Wroten was advised of the dangers of self-representation from some other source.

Likewise, the Supreme Court held the record failed to reveal that Watts made an intelligent waiver of counsel. Watts, 347 S.C. at 403-404, 556 S.E.2d at 371. First, the plea judge failed to make a meaningful inquiry into Watts's background to determine whether he had sufficient experience or knowledge to waive counsel. Id. at 403, 556 S.E.2d at 371. The judge elicited from Watts that he was forty-one years old and had graduated from high school. Id. at 404, 556 S.E.2d at 371. When the judge asked about his prior criminal history, the solicitor, not Watts, answered that he had been convicted of simple possession of marijuana and strong arm robbery "some time ago." Id. The judge made no further inquiry into the prior conviction. Id. According to the Court, the record failed to demonstrate Watts was warned adequately of the dangers of self-representation when he relieved his appointed counsel, and affirmatively demonstrated that he was not warned by the plea judge as required by Faretta. Id. Additionally, the record failed to demonstrate that Watts had sufficient background to make an intelligent waiver of counsel absent the proper Faretta warnings. Id.

The Court held Prince was not sufficiently aware of the dangers of self-representation to make an informed decision to proceed *pro se* based on the record before it. Prince, 301 S.C. at 424, 392 S.E.2d at 463. Prince was twenty-two years old at the time of his guilty plea, had completed

high school, and had some college education. Id. Additionally, Prince had previously pleaded guilty to armed robbery. Id. However, the record indicated Prince “was mentally disturbed at the time of his plea.” Id. When he was incarcerated, Prince began receiving psychiatric treatment and was still undergoing treatment three years later at the time of his PCR hearing. Id. During the PCR hearing, Prince “exhibited little understanding of criminal proceedings” and “testified he relied upon the solicitor’s advice at the plea hearing.” Id.

The colloquy between Judge Burch and Appellant differed sharply from the colloquies held sufficient by courts to warn a defendant of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. In Reed, 332 S.C. at 41, 503 S.E.2d at 749-750, the “trial judge questioned [Reed] in camera about his knowledge of the proceedings and what it would mean to represent himself rather than have representation by two capital trial qualified attorneys.” Further, “[t]he trial judge warned [Reed] of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation. [Reed] stated that he understood what he was waiving but still chose to waive counsel.” Id. at 41, 503 S.E.2d at 750. In fact, the “trial judge held several hearings to determine whether [Reed] understood what it meant to represent himself and to waive the appointment of experienced counsel.” Id. When the judge informed Reed of the dangers and disadvantages of self-representation, Reed “continued to assert that he understood what he was waiving and demonstrated to the judge that he was making a knowing, intelligent perhaps unwise, voluntary decision to represent himself.” Id. at 41-42, 503 S.E.2d at 750.

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