STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2015-002563

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JOHN KENNETH MASSEY, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway
Moss Justice Center
York, SC 29745
(803) 628-3020

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 26 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
Honorable Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge

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

In the case sub judice, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established: (1) Deputy Carroll’s expert testimony regarding dog tracking could assist the jury in understanding and resolving the issues raised in Appellant’s case; (2) Deputy Carroll personally had the requisite knowledge, skill, training, and experience to qualify as an expert; and (3) the subject matter of Deputy Carroll’s testimony was reliable. See Martin, 391 S.C. at 513, 706 S.E.2d at 42 (instructing expert testimony is admissible where the trial judge finds: “(1) the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact, (2) the expert possesses the requisite knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, and (3) and the expert's testimony is reliable”). Under those circumstances, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion regarding evidentiary matters by qualifying Deputy Carroll as an expert in canine human scent tracking in Appellant’s case and

permitting him to testify before the jury about Hattie's tracking of Appellant's scent on the date of the incident.

Initially, Deputy Carroll's expert testimony was necessary in Appellant's case to assist the jury in understanding how Hattie was able to track Appellant's scent from his location to the four-wheeler and the location where the four-wheeler was stolen from, which constituted a subject matter beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jurors. See Watson, 389 S.C. at 446, 699 S.E.2d at 175 (“[I]n executing its gatekeeping duties, the trial court must make three key preliminary findings which are fundamental to Rule 702 before the jury may consider expert testimony. First, the trial court must find that the subject matter is beyond the ordinary knowledge of the jury, thus requiring an expert to explain the matter to the jury.”). Therefore, the trial judge correctly determined it was necessary for Deputy Carroll to testify as an expert in order to explain how Hattie tracked Appellant's scent on the morning of the theft.

Beyond the ability of the deputy's testimony to assist the jury, Deputy Carroll was also personally qualified to offer an expert opinion in regard to Hattie's tracking of Appellant's scent based on his own knowledge, skill, training, and experience. See Henry, 329 S.C. at 278, 495 S.E.2d at 469 (“[T]he relevant inquiry concerning qualification of the proffered expert is whether the witness possesses the necessary skill, learning, education, training, knowledge, or experience to enable the witness to give opinion testimony.”). Specifically, Deputy Carroll testified he had over seven years of experience working as a full-time member of a canine tracking unit, several additional years of experience working with the canine tracking unit before he was a full-time member of that unit, and more than seven years of experience working directly with Hattie, the tracking dog deployed in Appellant's case. Additionally, he indicated he personally received tracking training during various week-long seminars conducted by the National Bloodhound

Association and the York County Sheriff's Office along with training in tracking without the use of a canine from SLED, and he had previously been qualified as an expert on a prior occasion. See Martin, 391 S.C. at 513-514, 706 S.E.2d at 42-43 (finding no error in the qualification of a witness as an expert even though the witness's expertise was based in part on in-house training he had received through his employment at SLED). Furthermore, based on the voluminous records introduced during trial in regard to Hattie's tracking training, Deputy Carroll personally went on at least seventy-five tracking excursions with Hattie, and all of those training exercises ended with Hattie successfully identifying her target. Critically, Deputy Carroll's practical experience in tracking coupled with his tracking training from multiple sources demonstrated his expertise on the subject matter and enabled him to assist the jury with a matter beyond the knowledge of an ordinary layperson. See Honea v. Prior, 295 S.C. 526, 530, 369 S.E.2d 846, 849 (Ct. App. 1988) ("A witness may be competent to testify as an expert although the witness acquired his or her knowledge **through practical experience and not by scientific study, training, or research.**" (emphasis added)); see also Gadson v. Mikasa Corp., 368 S.C. 214, 228, 628 S.E.2d 262, 270 (Ct. App. 2006) ("An expert is not limited to any class of persons acting professionally. There is no exact requirement concerning how knowledge or skill must be acquired." (citations omitted)); cf. Peer, 320 S.C. at 554, 466 S.E.2d at 380 (finding no error in the trial judge's qualification of a witness as an expert in sound where the witness had over five years of law enforcement experience, was trained by **another** officer who was certified in the use of sound meter equipment, was capable of demonstrating how a sound level meter worked, and had handled approximately ten cases during the one-and-a-half years he had been conducting sound tests); State v. Goode, 305 S.C. 176, 178, 406 S.E.2d 391, 393 (Ct. App. 1991) (finding no abuse of discretion in the qualification of a witness as an expert on a "lane of impact" issue

where the witness had twelve weeks of training that included some specific training on determining the point of impact in accidents, one week of road training with a municipal police force, and four to five months of experience as a state trooper). As a result, the trial judge properly found Deputy Carroll to be personally qualified as an expert in canine handling.

Finally, Deputy Carroll's testimony about Hattie's tracking of Appellant's scent met the threshold level of reliability necessary for it to be admissible during Appellant's trial. Critically, looking to the relevant foundational factors established in Appellant's case, Deputy Carroll's testimony demonstrated he personally possessed the necessary qualifications to be considered an expert canine handler based on his own knowledge, skill, training, and experience. Cf. Henry, 329 S.C. at 277-278, 495 S.E.2d at 468-469 ("The challenge mounted by Henry blithely ignores the recognized principle of law that a witness is competent as an expert provided the witness has acquired by reason of study or experience or both such knowledge and skill in a business, profession, or science that **she is better qualified than the jury** to form an opinion on the particular subject of testimony." (emphasis added)). Likewise, the testimony presented during trial established Hattie was a bloodhound, which is a breed of dog that has long been recognized as possessing an acute sense of smell. See Debruler v. Commonwealth, 231 S.W.3d 752, 758 (Ky. 2007) (recognizing some breeds of dogs, including the bloodhound breed, are commonly known to have remarkably acute senses of smell). Similarly, Deputy Carroll's testimony made clear Hattie had received many years of training in regard to tracking a scent beginning from when she was a puppy, and Hattie's training was solely focused on tracking human odor. Additionally, the deputy's testimony coupled with the numerous training records presented to the trial judge established Hattie was reliable even though no evidence was presented establishing she had been certified in an area of tracking. Cf. State v. Morris, 376 S.C. 189, 204, 656 S.E.2d

359, 367 (2008) (“Despite Appellant’s argument to the contrary, the status of [the witness’s] law license is completely irrelevant to his qualification as an expert. The evidentiary rule governing the qualification of experts says nothing about professional licensing requirements, and a licensing requirement seems wholly incompatible with Rule 702’s operational framework.”). Specifically, Deputy Carroll indicated Hattie had demonstrated reliability as a tracking dog, and he stated he was able to personally verify Hattie’s reliability in tracking Appellant’s scent by observing footprints and tracks that confirmed an individual had recently used the path Hattie led him along while she was tracking Appellant’s scent. Cf. Childs, 299 S.C. at 477, 385 S.E.2d at 843 (finding expert dog tracking testimony to be admissible where the witness testified he personally found the tracking dogs he used to be reliable). Moreover, the numerous training records presented to the trial judge demonstrated Hattie had been involved in over three-hundred training exercises by the time of trial, and she only failed to successfully track the target in three of those exercises over the years. Furthermore, although Hattie had only participated in one reverse tracking exercise during the course of her training, her training records demonstrated her tracking was successful during that exercise, and Deputy Carroll explained reverse tracking still involved tracking a human scent just like Hattie had been trained to do in other tracking exercises. See State v. Barger, 612 S.W.2d 485, 492 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1980) (“There appear to be no reported cases in which a dog ‘tracked in reverse,’ i. e., sniffed the suspect or his belongings and then tracked the scent to stolen merchandise. However, if a proper foundation is laid, we see no intrinsic reason why such evidence should be any less reliable than that in a case where the dog has sniffed an article or area where the suspect had been and has tracked the scent to the defendant. Given the satisfaction of the preliminary requirements outlined above, we hold that evidence of the tracking of a scent in either direction is admissible and may be given

whatever weight the jury wishes to accord it.”). Finally, Deputy Carroll confirmed Hattie began tracking Appellant’s scent within two hours of him being discovered at the scene of the crime, which he indicated was an average time period for Hattie to be able to track a suspect’s scent, and testimony was presented establishing Deputy Shealey prevented the suspect’s trail from being contaminated before Hattie began tracking by keeping everyone away from the four-wheeler and out of the victim’s yard, which were spots where Appellant’s scent would not have been if he had not had any contact with the four-wheeler before he was discovered alone in the roadway near the victim’s isolated residence before sunrise on the date of the incident. Cf. State v. Brown, 103 S.C. 437, 444, 88 S.E. 21, 23 (1916) (finding dog tracking testimony to be inadmissible because the dogs did not begin tracking until over fifteen hours after the crime, which was outside of the fifteen-hour time window in which the witness testified the dogs could reliably track a scent). Based on the establishment of those foundational factors, the trial judge properly found a sufficient threshold level of reliability had been established and correctly admitted Deputy Carroll’s expert testimony in regard to Hattie’s tracking of Appellant’s scent following the crime. See White, 382 S.C. at 272, 676 S.E.2d at 687 (“[A] sufficient foundation for the admission of dog tracking evidence is established if (1) the evidence shows the dog handler satisfies the qualifications of an expert under Rule 702; (2) the evidence shows the dog is of a breed characterized by an acute power of scent; (3) the dog has been trained to follow a trail by scent; (4) by experience the dog is found to be reliable; (5) the dog was placed on the trail where the suspect was known to have been within a reasonable time; and (6) the trail was not otherwise contaminated.”).

Because Deputy Carroll’s testimony satisfied all of the requirements for the admission of expert testimony in South Carolina, his expert testimony on dog tracking could properly be

introduced during trial, and Appellant could only properly challenge that testimony through cross-examination and by calling the jurors' attention to any defects or deficiencies he believed existed in regard to the knowledge, skill, training, or experience of the agent or of Hattie, which Appellant ably did during the course of the trial. See Wilson v. Rivers, 357 S.C. 447, 453, 593 S.E.2d 603, 605 (2004) ("Any defects in the amount of [an expert's] education and experience, if any, go to the weight of his testimony and not its admissibility."); see also Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S. 579, 596 (1983) ("Vigorous cross-examination, presentation of contrary evidence, and careful instruction on the burden of proof are the traditional and appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence."); see generally 31A Am. Jur. 2d Expert and Opinion Evidence § 90 ("Such matters as defects in an expert's education or experience, the lack of an expert's specialization or lack of specialized training, the degree of an expert's certainty as to his or her opinion, or the quality of the expert's conclusions go to the weight to be given expert opinion testimony. Furthermore, the mere fact that controversy, or even substantial controversy, surrounds an expert's conclusion or opinion goes to the weight to be given such testimony." (footnotes omitted)). Accordingly, the trial judge did not abuse his broad discretion by qualifying Deputy Carroll as an expert in canine human scent tracking and permitting the agent to present his expert testimony to the jury, and the trial judge's ruling admitting that evidence was in no way arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair. See Fields, 363 S.C. at 26, 609 S.E.2d at 509 ("A trial court's ruling on the admissibility of an expert's testimony constitutes an abuse of discretion when the ruling is manifestly arbitrary, unreasonable, or unfair."). Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

III.

The trial judge properly awarded Appellant credit for all the time he served in pre-trial detention in connection to the offenses for which he was charged in the case sub judice in compliance with the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred by failing to award him with all the credit for time served he believes he should have received. In support of that contention, Appellant acknowledges he received credit for the time he served in pre-trial detention following his arrest for the charged offenses prior to being released on bond. Appellant further acknowledges he received credit for the time he served as a pre-trial detainee in connection to the charged offenses after he was returned to York County following the completion of a prison sentence he received on an unrelated offense. However, Appellant contends the trial judge erred by not also awarding him with credit for the period in time he was held as a pre-trial detainee in connection to other charges after he was re-arrested for new offenses committed while he was out of custody on bond in connection to the charges involved in the case sub judice.²⁹ Importantly, because Appellant was held in custody on unrelated charges committed while he was out on bond, which nothing in the record suggests was ever revoked, and not on the charges involved in the matter currently before the appellate court, Appellant was not serving any time on the charges involved in his appeal while he was incarcerated on the other charges and, thus, was not entitled to any credit towards his sentence for that time. Accordingly, the trial judge committed no error in only awarding Appellant with the credit for time served he was entitled to under the mandates of S.C. Code Ann. § 24-13-40. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

²⁹ In making that argument on appeal, Appellant contends the solicitor indicated during the sentencing proceedings he had previously offered Appellant a "time-served sentence" if he was willing to plead guilty to the charged offenses. (App. Br. p. 33). Contrary to that contention, nothing in the record from the sentencing proceedings establishes the solicitor ever made such an offer. (R. pp. 357-369). Instead, the record establishes a circuit court judge who later recused himself from Appellant's case indicated he was inclined to sentence Appellant to time served on the charged offenses if he was willing to plead guilty. (R. p. 366).

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